
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee

Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Wednesday, 10 February 
2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

3. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Annual Review of the Revenues & Benefits Shared Management 
Arrangement 

(Pages 7 - 16)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


6. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 3 2020/21 (Pages 17 - 28)

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in Private
None

Members

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee 

Monday, 23 November 2020   7:30pm    

Present:

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair) 
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Helen Ashenden 
Harold Craske 
Dakota Dibben 
Sarah Gow 
Leslie Hills 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Gurbax Singh 

Sarah Parfitt 
Pat Knight 

Director (Corporate Services) 
Head of Revenues & Benefits 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)  

81. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gary Harding; Cllr Derek Ashenden 
substituted. 

82. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 24 September 2020 were signed by the 
Chair.

83. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what 
their interest is. 

No declarations of interest were made. 

84. Q2 2020-21: Performance Report 

Members of the Performance & Administration Committee were presented with an update 
against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the Council’s 
Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2020-21 (July to September 2020).

Before going into the report, the Head of Revenues & Benefits gave some context to the 
outturns to Members and updated them on the additional pressures the service had 
experienced due to its involvement in delivering the Government’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 23.11.2020

2

The Head of Revenues & Benefits guided Members through the report highlighting key 
performance figures from within the Performance Indicators covering the period July to 
September 2020. 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits added to the information in the report and advised 
Members of updated performance figures: 

 The average number of days to assess housing benefit claims improved further and 
as at end of October 2020 the figure stood at 13.5 days

 The average number of days to assess change of circumstances in respect of 
existing benefit claims continued to show a downward trend and as at end of October 
2020 the figure stood at 2.9 days; the team were performing above average despite 
an increased workload stemming from the pandemic. The additional automation and 
the implementation of vastly improved processes to the service assisted the team 
with the heavier workloads 

 In addition, the team received 43769 items of work during the first half of the year 
compared to 17544 during the same period the previous year 

 Council Tax collection rate had improved  and stood at 1.2% below the rate for the 
equivalent time last year , at the previous Committee meeting it was reported that the 
figure was 1.8% showing that the team were slowly closing the gap 

 The Business Rates collection rate remained at 1.7% below the rate at the equivalent 
time last year , as reported during the last quarter and against the national average of 
collection being 8% down. During the first and second lockdown, the process of 
sending formal notices for recovery of Council Tax and Business Rates was 
suspended but officers continued to call customers. Those calls would consist of 
reminding the customers to pay what they owed or signposting them to services if 
they were having issues making payments due to difficulties in their life that stemmed 
from the pandemic such as job loss etc. So far, 4800 cases had been assisted with 
deferred payments or extensions on their instalment plans 

It was noted by the Committee that Gravesham’s performance figures were better than other 
local authorities within Kent as well as above nationwide averages. 

The Head of Revenue & Benefits informed the Committee of a number of grants, and their 
associated figures, which had been distributed to residents in the Borough:  

 Business Support Grant 
 Hardship Fund 
 Test and Trace Isolation Payments 
 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed)

Due to an issue with the Head of Revenue & Benefits audio, a portion of his presentation 
was not heard and it was agreed that the Head of Revenues & Benefits would circulate a 
document containing the information that had been missed. 

The Director (Corporate Services) continued with the report and gave Members a brief 
overview of the Performance Indicators in the following policy commitments (pages 17-20):  

1. Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme 
of ‘continuous change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, 
innovative service design.

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 23.11.2020

3

2. Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked 
performance management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound 
internal controls.

3. Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all 
policy, constitutional and legislative demands.  

Following a request for clarification from a Member due to the audio cut-out; the Head of 
Revenues and Benefits explained that the Government had deferred evictions until the end 
of March 2021 which meant that the Council had not received that many applications for 
discretionary housing payments compared to previous years. Evictions could still be 
enforced but it would only be able to occur in very limited circumstances. 

The Director (Corporate Services) and the Head of Revenue & Benefits fielded questions 
from the Committee and explained that: 

 This Committee was not the correct environment to be discussing individual 
complaints received but the report identified that the Council had received less 
complaints than compared to Q2 2019/20 and the important things for Members to 
watch was the escalation of those complaints. The Council may have received 
complaints which made it to stage 1 but very few were escalated to stages 2 or 3 
which showed that the complaint was dealt with in the first instance. It is a customer’s 
right to make a complaint if they feel they have received poor service and generally, it 
was the frontline services that received the most complaints such as Planning, Waste 
Management and Housing but the complaints varied depending on what was 
happening at the time

 The Service Review Process identified that the Planning Service required a review of 
their processes in order to enhance them and make them more efficient ; the report 
which had been written for the review had been concluded and the recommendations 
within the report were due to be considered by Management Team. The Director 
(Corporate Services) assured the Committee that an update on that review would be 
submitted in the next quarterly performance report but ultimately it was for the 
Planning Service to decide what, in terms of specific operational improvements, they 
would implement 

In response to a Members concern that the wording in Policy Commitment ‘4. Successfully 
manage key business risks’ was too technical for the public and Councillors without expert 
knowledge to understand, the Director (Corporate Services) agreed to amend it for the Q3 
report. 

The Committee congratulated the team for their hard work during the course of the 
pandemic and gave their thanks to officers for running an essential service during a difficult 
time and still managing to maintain high performance figures. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:06pm. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 10 February 2021

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Review of the Revenues & Benefits Shared 
Management Arrangement

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with a copy of the 
annual review that has been conducted in respect of the Revenues & Benefits Shared 
Management arrangement with Medway Council

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since October 2019, the council has had in place a shared service arrangement 
with Medway Council for the provision of management services for the Revenues 
& Benefits Service. This involved the Head of Revenues and Benefits and the 
Revenues Manager employed by Medway Council taking managerial 
responsibility for the services provided by Gravesham Borough Council.

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 16 April 2019), a formal review of the shared management 
arrangement is to be undertaken on an annual basis.

2. Annual Review

2.1 The annual review of the Revenues & Benefits Shared Management arrangement 
was undertaken in January 2021 and reported to the Gravesham Borough Council 
Management Team accordingly.

2.2 A copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two for Member 
perusal.

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Director (Corporate 
Services). Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, 
be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements

Page 8



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard to the following 
legislation:
1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 

place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of 
another local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties, 
and

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authority 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which enables a local authority to delegate certain functions to another local 
authority.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The payment to Medway Council for the provision of the Revenues & Benefits 
Management Services was/is :-

 For period 01/10/2019 to 31/03/2020 £35,480 

 For period 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2021 £74,870  

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and on-going monitoring that takes place has shown that the 
service is meeting its objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 9

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to objective number three:
Progress - an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment

Climate Change There are no specific climate change implications resulting from this report

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults’ implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 10



                    

Review of the Revenues and Benefits 
Shared Management arrangement

(Shared Management arrangement
 Commenced: October 2019)

Author(s): Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services) at Gravesham Borough Council 
and Phil Watts, Chief Finance Officer at Medway Council

Date: January 2021

Page 11



Review of the Revenues and Benefits  Shared management arrangement

Page 2

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement.

The objectives identified for the Revenues and Benefits shared management arrangement are as 
follows:

 To improve Key Performance Indicators (KPI)

 Potential to review and align council policies and provide a common set of policies across 
both sites which could result in a reduction in training requirements etc. across both sites.

 Development of the customer knowledge-base of officers in both authorities to enable them 
to better understand different cultures.

 Stronger, more resilient services, able to adapt to the peaks and troughs of service demand.

 Flexible and commercial attitude to service delivery

 Greater opportunity for the Manager to utilise staff resources more efficiently (opportunity 
for staff to ‘specialise’ more effectively).

 Align IT systems and software and negotiate contracts at a more competitive rate

 Potential to explore other opportunities for shared working across the two service areas 
where it is appropriate to do so.

Page 12



Review of the Revenues and Benefits  Shared management arrangement

Page 3

 Review Findings

How is the shared management arrangement operating?
1. Has the shared management arrangement delivered on the objectives that are set out on page 

two of the review document?

Yes No In part √

 To improve Key Performance Indicators (KPI)

Monthly dashboard/performance reports are now provided monthly to relevant Portfolio 
holders providing transparency and opportunity to discuss/challenge performance.

Performance has been greatly affected by the Covid-19 pandemic particularly in respect 
of revenue collection – even so the effect on collection at both authorities has had less of 
a negative impact than the average for billing authorities.

Benefit performance has remained strong at Gravesham Borough Council with time taken 
to assess both new claims and change of circumstances both better than the National and 
Kent averages.  Medway Council has seen improvements in time taken to assess new 
claims (reduced by 14.7%). 

The introduction of automation of the assessment process of change of circumstances has 
greatly improved performance at both authorities despite significant increase in workload 
due to the pandemic.

Whilst not in the annual list of KPI’s the pandemic has required local authorities to 
administer the payment of business grants and Test & Trace Isolation payments. These 
significant and critical payments for businesses and local residents have been /are being 
delivered efficiently by the Revenues and Benefits service.

 Potential to review and align council policies and provide a common set of policies 
across both sites which could result in a reduction in training requirements etc. across 
both sites.  This was commenced and has been undertaken in respect of all new policies 
introduced as part of the governments response to the Covid-19 pandemic (including 
various business grants; test and Trace Isolation payments and rate reliefs.

 Development of the customer knowledge-base of officers in both authorities to enable 
them to better understand different cultures. This has proven invaluable to the service 
with each authority having its own unique nuances which has ensured a more holistic 
view of the service 

 Stronger, more resilient services, able to adapt to the peaks and troughs of service 
demand.  Both authorities have adapted well to home-working which has greatly aided 
resilience with less sickness reported.  Utilising different skill sets from across the two 
authorities has provided a much stronger service and has been fully tested in very difficult 
times. The service has continued and in some areas even improved performance due to 
automation and innovation.  However, the service has not been able to remain self-
sufficient during the pandemic and has had to obtain some external resilience.

 Flexible and commercial attitude to service delivery  The service continually looks at 
suppliers who provide similar services for each authority and investigates where savings 

Page 13



Review of the Revenues and Benefits  Shared management arrangement

Page 4

may be made if rolled into one e.g. annual subscription, IT systems. Longer term there 
may be further opportunities around core IT systems hence effort to align systems. 

 Greater opportunity for the Manager to utilise staff resources more efficiently 
(opportunity for staff to ‘specialise’ more effectively).  This will be easier to achieve 
should the service moved into a fully shared service. 

 Align IT systems and software and negotiate contracts at a more competitive rate Both 
authorities key systems are provided by Northgate Public Services (NPS). However, 
Gravesham Borough Council’s is administered locally by the council’s IT service whilst 
Medway Council’s are hosted by NPS. These differences have been due to local strategic 
decisions. In addition the Document Imaging system is at different versions for which 
there is currently a significant difference. It is envisaged that both authorities’ versions 
will be aligned to the latest version in Q1 2021/22 as this will be key should the service 
become fully shared.

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service? 

Yes √ No

The shared management arrangement has greatly assisted both authorities during the 
pandemic.  Various skill sets available at both authorities across various departments (and not 
just in the Revenues and Benefits service) has greatly aided in the implementation of  
government initiatives  in responses to the pandemic. Additionally shared knowledge of 
collection fund and other accounting practices have benefited both authorities. 

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared management 
arrangement?

Yes √ No

The COVID19 pandemic has had a major impact on the Revenues and Benefits service. There 
have been numerous legislative changes and grants which have fallen on the Revenues and 
Benefits service to deliver across two authorities so this has stretched the shared 
management arrangement. However, the support from senior corporate management has 
enabled this service to continue and in some areas improvement in service delivery due to 
review of processes and innovation.

Page 14



Review of the Revenues and Benefits  Shared management arrangement

Page 5

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities? 

The cost of the shared management (Head of Service and Revenues Manager) within 
Revenues and Benefits for Gravesham has been :-

 For period 01/10/2019 to 31/03/2020 amounted to £35,480 

 For period 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2021 amounted to £74,870  

These figures were as per the budget expectation and  payable to Medway Council

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service:

In general the feedback from officers within the service is positive with homeworking being 
seen as a positive by the majority of staff. Additionally, staff have indicated that they are 
pleased that there is no perceived ‘threat’ of relocation to other offices.

Concerns have been raised around resourcing and particularly filling vacancies or at least 
revising team structures.  Initially, there were concerns that managers may not be accessible 
as often. However this has eased since more staff are now using video conferencing .

Moving forward with the shared management arrangement
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared management arrangement 

continue to operate?

Yes √ No

The potential to explore other opportunities for shared working across the two service areas 
remains with constant review of utilising and applying best practice and innovation. 

Page 15



Review of the Revenues and Benefits  Shared management arrangement

Page 6

7. If the shared management arrangement is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of 
focus for the coming year for both authorities?

Performance – continued improvement of key performance indicators

A review of the structure of the service is required particularly in the following areas 
Management – administrative support required 

 Revenues –  there is a need for further specialist Business Rate knowledge; 
review of visiting officer requirements

 Systems  team(s) – a detailed review

 Benefits – further  resilience for appeals 

Information Technology and Innovation

 Alignment of both authorities to the latest version of NPS Document 
Image system ‘Enterprise’

 Further automation of processes where possible

 Further development/installation of Citizens Access

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

 Consultation with stakeholders over a new ‘banded’ scheme

Summary of recommendations
Please list any recommendations that you feel need to be reviewed by the relevant Directors at both 
authorities.  This may include changes to processes or potential supplement increases (if applicable) 
if it is felt that partnership is working well.

1. Review at Medway Council  collection fund related work currently undertaken 
by Head of Revenues and Benefits service to  free up time for the Shared 
Management arrangement

2.

3.

Page 16



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 10 February 2021

Reporting officer: Pat Knight - Head of Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with an update against 
the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, 
for Quarter Three 2020-21 (October to December 2020). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 17 Agenda Item 6



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Performance & 
Administration Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance 
against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2020-21, covering the period 
October to December 2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 18



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The Plan ensures the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 19

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 20



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P E R F O R M A N C E  &  A D M I N
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  3  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 21



P I  23 Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8 15.9 13.8 12.8

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0 3.6 3.3 3.4

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 1. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible 

to all. 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Performance continues to remain strong against a backdrop of exceptional resourcing pressures 

placed on the service due to the implementation of Covid-19 measures such as 'Test and Trace Self-

Isolation grants'.  

PI 23: The average processing time for housing benefit claims has continued to improve from an 

average of 13.8 days in Q2 to 12.2 days at the end of Q3. This compares favourably with the latest 

available data (Q1) nationally 18 days  and Kent 19 days. 

PI 24: The average processing time to assess changes of circumstance for housing benefit claims is 

now 3.4 days compared with 3.3 days in Q2. This continues to compare favourably with the latest 

available data (Q1) nationally 5 days  and Kent 4 days.                                    

Revenues & Benefits update - Pat Knight

5

10

15

20

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

0

2

4

6

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 22



P I  26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

73 82 44 56 41 52 52

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 2. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible 

to all. 

Corporate Complaints update - Simon Walsh

During Q3 there were 52 complaints, the same amount as during Q2. During October there were 24 

complaints, 23 Stage One and one Stage Two. Of the Stage One, 11 were responded to within the 

15 day deadline and 12 did not meet the deadline and remain open. The Stage Two response met 

the deadline. During November there were 16 complaints, 15 Stage One and one Stage Three. Of 

the Stage One, nine cases met the response deadline and six did not and remain open..The Stage 

Three did not meet the response deadline and remains open. In December there were 12 complaints, 

11 Stage One of which five met the 15 day deadline and six didn't meet the deadline and remain 

open. The one Stage Three did not meet the deadline and remains open. Therefore during Q3 50% 

met the 15 day response deadline.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

O U T T U R N

25

50

75

100

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 23



P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 1,519 2,757 4,484 5,453 6,328 7,211

#3 PROGRESS
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

O U T T U R N 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 24



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6.5%

"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of 

‘continuous change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service design.

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator

The recommendations resulting from the review of the Planning Service (Development Management) 

is currently in the process of being considered by the Chief Executive.

Following the council's LGA Peer Challenge in October 2019, a virtual follow-up review is in the 

process of being scheduled, likely to take place in March 2021.  This will review the council's 

response to the recommendations made following the initial review.  

A review of the councils Working in Partnership Framework has also commenced to take account of 

the changes that have been made as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and to ensure it is still fit for 

purpose.  Outcomes from this review will be reported to Members as required.

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 25



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2% 62.5% 67.7% 62.5%

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked 

performance management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal 

controls. 

"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

Internal Audit update - James Larkin 

Counter Fraud update - James Larkin 

O U T T U R N

All 993 matches received across three reports from the 2019-20 NFI exercise, which looks at Council 

Tax Single person discounts, have been reviewed with 806 now closed with no investigation required 

or evidence of fraud/error.184 remain open for further enquiries and three have been concluded with 

the removal of the discount, resulting in additional liability of £4,785.05 and liability for future years of 

£1,335.05. Submissions for the 2020-21 Exercise took place in October, with some further 

submission now to take place in January 2021. Results are expected to be received for the majority 

of these reports at the end of January 2021, with results for business support grants expected in 

March 2021.

Investigation activity during Q3 has led to the following;

• Additional council tax (historic liability) of £10,137.88.

• Additional council tax liability of £4,622.64 for future years.

• Housing/Council Tax Benefit overpayments of £14,110.19.

• Three civil penalties totalling £210.

• One resignation linked to a disciplinary investigation.

Counter fraud reviews of the arrangements around lone workers and staff leave booking have now 

been completed and are going through the quality control process.

Members of the Finance & Audit Committee received their first update on progress against the revised Audit & 

Counter Fraud plan in October and as of 31 December, plan delivery (audit fieldwork completed) was 58%, while 

a further 21% was underway.The Internal Audit team has a performance indicator relating to the implementation 

of agreed recommendations. At the end of quarter two it was reported that ten recommendations remained 

outstanding. Of those, the following recommendations have now been implemented;

• Reviewing procedures for the calculation of housing service charges,

• Investigating a process to enable easy identification of council tax and NNDR card payments to aid the refund 

procedure, and

• The Terms of Reference for the Asset Management Corporate Working Group being reviewed.

A cumulative total of 48 recommendations were due to be implemented by the end of Q3 and as of 31 December 

2020, 18 of these remained outstanding. 

Outstanding recommendations relate to:

• Investigating a scheme working with private landlords to help prevent homelessness,

• Agreements being put in place for all enforcement services, 

• Reviewing the Housing Allocations Policy,

• Reviewing the reporting arrangements set out in the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy, 

• Establishing procedures for a periodic review of the housing waiting list, 

• Reviewing procedures for the regular testing of IT back-up arrangements, 

• Guidance / procedure notes relating to tenancy enforcement actions being created and shared with staff, 

• Equality, Diversity & Safeguarding training for officers dealing with unauthorised encampments, 

• A review of the information relating to Flexi, TOIL and overtime on the intranet,

• Managers being reminded of their responsibilities in relation to Flexi, TOIL and overtime,

• The creation of a council overtime policy document,

• Service managers being reminded of overtime rates, including guidelines for part time staff and working time 

directives,

• A strategy document for the council’s apprenticeship scheme,

• A process being put in place to ensure ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and considered at the earliest 

stage of recruitment,

• A review of the apprenticeship policy, 

• Arrangements for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the Apprenticeship Service Account to 

ensure accuracy,

• Credit card guidance being updated to remove references to individuals and replace with job roles, and

• An escalation process to deal with credit card holders who fail to provide requested information.

Progress made towards implementing outstanding recommendations is monitored on a quarterly basis, through 

reports to the council’s Management Team. Details of all recommendations agreed, implemented and outstanding 

are provided to the council’s Finance & Audit Committee as part of the quarterly and annual A&CF update 

reports. All recommendations that remain outstanding more than six months after their agreed implementation 

date are now specifically highlighted with updates from the relevant services provided.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 26



P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

86% 86% 86% 84% 83% 88% TBC

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T #3 PROGRESS
4. Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, 

constitutional and legislative demands.
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."
Q3 saw the commencement of the council's service business planning process for 2021/22. 

Working in conjunction with the budget setting process, business plans are established to provide a 

road map for each service to work towards in the year ahead; identifying the key milestones, projects 

and initiatives and, equally, the risks to delivery and the respective resources required. Business 

plans also act as a key component of the staff performance framework, enabling all officers the 

opportunity to identify how their activities and level of individual performance contributes to the 

delivery of the council's Corporate Plan commitments. 

A key part to business planning as a process is the requirement for an assessment of each service's 

statutory duties. This ensures effective controls are planned for and ultimately put in place to 

discharge the variety of legislative duties the authority is responsible for.  An example of such a 

control includes council policy formation, where legislative demands include the need either to have 

an appropriate policy in place, or that any policy must account for specific statutory duties – or both. 

The service business planning process provides the Corporate Management Team the required 

assurance these legal requirements are captured as part of the timetable of activity for each service.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Annual Review of the Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangement
	App2 Revs Bens Shared Mgt Annual Review Jan 21

	6 Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 3 2020/21
	2. Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q3 2020-21 - Appendix 2




